Urban Experimentation in Support of Sweden's Sustainability Transition

A Case Study of Brunnshög in Lund

Jessica Clevenger

Master Thesis Series in Environmental Studies and Sustainability Science, No 2020:008

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements of Lund University International Master's Programme in Environmental Studies and Sustainability Science (30hp/credits)







Urban Experimentation in Support of Sweden's

Sustainability Transition

A Case Study of Brunnshög in Lund

Jessica Michelle Clevenger

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements of Lund University International Master's Programme in Environmental Studies and Sustainability Science Submitted May 12, 2020 Supervisor: Kelly Dorkenoo, LUCSUS, Lund University

Abstract:

The number of people living in urban areas has increased significantly over the past few decades. As such, cities have become centers for population and economic growth. These two factors, however, are also the most significant drivers of fossil fuel related CO_2 emissions. Additionally, urban services contribute to dominant socio-technical systems that are inherently unsustainable, path dependent, and locked-in. Such systems are typically categorized by incremental change, which is not sufficient to address sustainability challenges. Thus, some cities have focused on becoming loci for urban experimentation aimed at revealing sustainable system alternatives that may induce more radical change. In this sense, cities are not only major contributors to climate change, but important areas for sustainability transitions.

Sweden has experienced high rates of urbanization and also strives for sustainable development. Therefore, I have chosen to explore urban experimentation for sustainability within this country by analyzing the developing district of Brunnshög, located in Lund. In this study, I explore how an urban experiment may attempt to challenge dominant socio-technical systems in Lund and how successful these approaches may be at contributing to the larger transition towards sustainability. The multi-level perspective is used to investigate the extent to which Brunnshög's niche-innovations may contribute to the evolution of a specific transition pathway within the city.

This case study reveals that niche-innovations being developed within Brunnshög primarily target four socio-technical systems within the dominant regime: transportation, energy and heating, waste management, and food production. Additionally, landscape pressure is exerted by a national, eco-modern focus on sustainability, as well as growing global awareness that radical action must be taken to sufficiently mitigate climate change. The analysis reveals that Brunnshög, as an urban experiment, is contributing to the current transformation transition path evident within Lund. However, there is potential for this path of transformation to shift to one of reconfiguration. Urban experiments, like Brunnshög, are necessary for providing the protected space needed for this to happen. Brunnshög's unfolding development must be followed over the next couple decades to decisively determine how its niche-innovations impact Lund's transition towards sustainability.

Keywords: Sustainable urban development, socio-technical systems, multi-level perspective, transition pathways, urban experiment, Brunnshög

Word Count: 11,999

Acknowledgements

Writing my thesis during a pandemic has been interesting, to say the least. While I expected to write in various libraries and my favorite cafés, surrounded by members of my LUMES family, I found myself writing from home. This really became a daunting task after week four and I would not have achieved what I have without the effort my friends and family made to reach out and support me virtually. I am also indebted to Monica and Nino for letting me write at their kitchen table when I just could not quite stand the sight of my four walls any longer.

A huge thank you must also go out to my supervisor, Kelly. Your guidance and keen insight helped to elevate the clarity and thoroughness of my arguments and your kind encouragement motivated me to keep moving forward.

Thank you, Kyla and Mathilde, for dedicating your time and energy to reading various drafts and providing exceedingly helpful and critical feedback. You both challenged me to think more deeply. Daphne, my English guru, I so appreciate your edits.

Thank you to my interviewees. Your insights and last edits were extremely helpful, and I enjoyed meeting and speaking with you all.

Thank you, Mom and Dad, for always supporting my dreams, no matter where they take me in the world. It does feel strange to wrap up my academic career without you both here to celebrate, but I am sure we will make up for it when we can. I love you both so much!

Marco, thank you for providing moral support every single day and insisting that I improve my morning efficiency. You kept me sane throughout this whole process and ensured that fun times were still had.

Table of Contents

1 Introduction	1
1.1 Problem Framing	1
1.2 Research Questions	2
1.3 Relevance to Sustainability Science	3
2 Theoretical Framing	5
2.1 Overview of Sustainability Transition Studies	5
2.2 Multi-Level Perspective	6
2.3 Experimentation	8
2.3.1 Defining Experimentation	8
2.3.2 Epistemologies of Urban Experimentation	9
2.4 Transition Pathways	11
2.4.1 Transformation	
2.4.2 De-alignment and Re-alignment	
2.4.3 Technological Substitution	
2.4.4 Reconfiguration	14
3 Method	15
3.1 Theoretical Development	15
3.2 Case Boundaries	15
3.3 Data Collection and Analysis	16
3.4 Limitations	17
4 The Case of Brunnshög	18
4.1 Physical Layout	18
4.2 Planning Process and Primary Stakeholders	19
4.3 Sustainability Orientation	20
4.4 The Importance of Economic Growth	21

4.5 Community and Innovation	21
4.6 Niche-Innovations	22
5 Landscape, Regimes, and Niche-Innovations	24
5.1 Landscape	24
5.2 Regimes	26
5.2.1 Transport	26
5.2.2 Energy and Heating	27
5.2.3 Waste Management	27
5.2.4 Food Production	28
5.2.5 Socio-Technical System Interconnectivity	28
5.3 Regime-Niche Interactions	29
5.4 Landscape-Regime Interactions	31
6 Chasing Transitions	33
6.1 Brunnshög's Epistemology	33
6.2 Transition Pathway Determination	33
6.3 Challenges and Limitations of the MLP	35
6.4 Looking Towards the Future	35
7 Conclusion	36
8 References	37

List of Tables and Figures

- Table 1
 Summary of socio-technical system epistemologies for urban experimentation
- Table 2Summary of transition pathways
- Table 3
 Brunnshög's niche-innovations and associated socio-technical systems
- Figure 1 Depiction of the socio-technical regime and its interdependent and co-evolving subregimes
- Figure 2 Relative degree of stability between the multi-level perspective framework's analytical levels
- Figure 3 Theoretical and analytical process
- Figure 4 Map of Brunnshög's development areas
- Figure 5 Interconnectivity of socio-technical systems

List of Abbreviations

- GHG Greenhouse Gas
- LTDH Low Temperature District Heating
- MLP Multi-Level Perspective
- RQ1 Research Question 1
- RQ2 Research Question 2
- STS Socio-Technical Systems
- SES Socio-Ecological Systems

1 Introduction

1.1 Problem Framing

Earth's temperature is expected to rise 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels by 2030 if immediate action is not taken to significantly reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions (IPCC, 2018). Current warming trends are already causing sea-level rise, heat stress, and extreme weather events globally (Revi et al., 2014). As warming increases, so too will the severity of these trends (Revi et al., 2014). Furthermore, humans' substantial contribution to global warming and climate change is undeniable, as human activity is responsible for about 1.0°C of Earth's temperature rise above pre-industrial levels (IPCC, 2018). This is largely due to increases in fossil fuel use and industrial processes, which are driven by economic and population growth (IPCC, 2014).

The impacts of climate change are concentrated in urban areas, which puts infrastructure systems, the built environment, and ecosystem services at risk (Revi et al., 2014). However, urban areas are also significant contributors to the problem itself. Cities are centers for resource demand and providers of basic services (Loorbach & Shiroyama, 2016). This includes demand for energy, food, water, and shelter, as well as waste management, healthcare, and education (Loorbach & Shiroyama, 2016). Globally, action taken within cities accounts for nearly 75 percent of total resource consumption and 70 percent of energy-related GHG emissions (Fuenfschilling et al., 2019; Loorbach & Shiroyama, 2016). Thus, cities have become the largest contributors to negative environmental impacts (Loorbach & Shiroyama, 2016). Recent and projected urbanization trends are also worrisome. As of 2018, 55 percent of all people on Earth were living in urban areas and by 2050, 68 percent of all people are expected to be inhabiting cities (United Nations et al., 2019). This population growth will continue to drive increases in fossil fuel emissions if nothing changes. Thus, cities must drive sustainable action and they are uniquely situated to do so since they are also centers for sustainability innovation and societal progress (Loorbach & Shiroyama, 2016). Consequently, they have the potential to drive more sustainable behavior and have been identified in the literature as an important area for sustainability transitions (Fuenfschilling et al., 2019).

Sustainability transitions occur when dominant socio-technical systems (STS) shift to a more sustainable form (Geels, 2011). STS deliver societal functions (Geels et al., 2017a) and dominant STS within cities center around urban services, such as transportation and energy supply, which are inherently unsustainable (Loorbach & Shiroyama, 2016; Markard et al., 2012). A failure to transition to environmentally, socially, and economically sustainable STS will lead to further global warming and worsening climate change. However, these transitions have not been known to come about easily, and

incremental, rather than radical, change is the norm (Markard et al., 2012). Unfortunately, incremental change will not be sufficient in addressing sustainability challenges (Markard et al., 2012). In a search for sustainable system alternatives, cities have become loci for experimentation (Evans, 2016). Socio-technical experimentation involves introducing "alternative technologies and practices in order to purposively re-shape social and material realities" (Sengers et al., 2019, p. 154). These experiments may "develop and align into a new, potentially more sustainable socio-technical configuration that, if diffused more broadly, will radically alter the existing system" (Fuenfschilling et al., 2019, p. 220). Therefore, it is important to better understand how urban experimentation is impacting sustainability transitions within cities today.

Sweden is globally recognized for striving to develop sustainably (Hilding-Rydevik et al., 2011; Midttun & Olsson, 2018). Their urbanization level also surpassed Europe's 2050 projection of 83.7 percent in 2018 (*Developments and Forecasts on Continuing Urbanisation*, 2018; *World Urbanization Prospects -Population Division - United Nations*, n.d.). As a response to rapid urbanization and the threat of climate change, the government extended financial support in 2008 to projects that aimed to redevelop or newly construct urban areas in ways that would reduce GHG emissions and apply innovative and novel solutions (The Delegation for Sustainable Cities, n.d.). Sustainable Knowledge City Lund NE was one such project, which is closely connected to the development of Brunnshög in Lund (Boverket, 2015). The planning and development of Brunnshög has continued since then and now the project aims to be a European best practice example that demonstrates how to take responsibility locally for the global challenge that is climate change (Lund Municipality, 2019). Thus, this thesis will focus on urban experimentation within Sweden using the newly developing district of Brunnshög, Lund as a case study.

1.2 Research Questions

The purpose of this thesis is to gain a better understanding of how urban experiments may attempt to challenge dominant socio-technical systems in Sweden and how successful these approaches may be at contributing to the country's larger transition towards sustainability. This study will explore the capacity of urban experiments in Sweden to challenge dominant socio-technical systems and influence a larger sustainability transition by answering the following research questions:

- 1. How do Brunnshög's proposed innovations intend to challenge dominant socio-technical systems?
- 2. What potential does Brunnshög's development have to contribute to the sustainability transition in Lund?

Chapter two theoretically frames this report through an introduction to sustainability transition studies, which encompasses urban experimentation, as well as the multi-level perspective framework and its associated transition pathways. The research method follows in chapter three, after which the case study is presented in chapter four. Further results and an analysis are included in chapter five. Finally, a discussion is provided in chapter six, in which the research questions are clearly answered, the application of the multi-level perspective framework to this case study is reflected upon, and suggestions for future research are presented.

1.3 Relevance to Sustainability Science

Sustainability science attempts to understand interactions between nature and society, as well as society's capacity to ensure these interactions are sustainable (Kates et al., 2001). As such, Kates et al. (2001) proposes that research concerning sustainability science should center around exploring not only the "fundamental character of interactions between nature and society," but also "society's capacity to guide those interactions along more sustainable trajectories" (p. 641). The latter is exactly what the interdisciplinary field of sustainability transitions attempts to do. Through the construction of various theoretical frameworks, this field explores how transitions towards sustainability can be characterized, how they can be effectively managed, and ultimately how we can encourage them to occur at a faster rate than is currently seen in the world today (Loorbach et al., 2017). This thesis draws extensively from sustainability transition studies in developing a theoretical frame and is thus, closely aligned with the principles and aims of sustainability science.

Additionally, sustainability science is characterized as transdisciplinary, problem driven and action oriented (Spangenberg, 2011). Sustainability science is not an autonomous field or discipline. Instead, a core strength is its capacity for bringing people together across disciplines to address common sustainability challenges in practical ways (Clark & Dickson, 2003). The Brunnshög project exemplifies these ideals. Multiple stakeholders, from government bodies to the business sector to educational institutions and research facilities, and even everyday citizens have been included in some aspect of the development process (personal communication, February 28, 2020). All these stakeholders are working towards creating a space that is more environmentally, economically, and socially sustainable (Lund Municipality, 2012a). Through the careful design of new technologies and the built environment, more sustainable action can be facilitated and made central to everyday living (Lund Municipality, 2018).

Using the multi-level perspective framework and its associated transition pathways to analyze this case provides a clearer understanding of how action taken in Brunnshög may further the sustainability goals

of the city and exemplifies the potential for local actions to contribute to a larger sustainability transition.

2 Theoretical Framing

A focus has been placed on the development of urban responses as a means of transitioning towards local and global sustainability for both research and policy (Wolfram & Frantzeskaki, 2016). Within literature discussing cities and systemic change for sustainability, two ontologies have been identified: socio-technical systems (STS) and social-ecological systems (SES) (Wolfram & Frantzeskaki, 2016). The STS ontology recognizes societal change as a function of co-evolving technologies, institutions, and practices (Wolfram & Frantzeskaki, 2016). This has resulted in a high interest in understanding how to "overcome the path-dependency and high inertia of existing STS that resist necessary sustainability innovations" (Wolfram & Frantzeskaki, 2016, p. 4). This interest helped inform the development of the multi-level perspective (MLP) framework, among others (Markard et al., 2012). On the other hand, the SES ontology has a bigger concern "for governance innovations, experimentation and social learning" based on resilience theory and focuses on identifying "vulnerabilities, unsustainable performances and dynamics of change" (Wolfram & Frantzeskaki, 2016, pp. 5–6). This thesis aligns with the STS ontology and utilizes the MLP, which is the most widely adopted conceptual frame within literature relating cities to systemic change for sustainability (Wolfram & Frantzeskaki, 2016).

This chapter begins with an overview of sustainability transition studies in section 2.1. This is followed by an introduction to the MLP framework in section 2.2 and an overview of experimentation in section 2.3. Finally, this chapter concludes with a summary of different transition pathways in section 2.4.

2.1 Overview of Sustainability Transition Studies

The STS ontology and its associated frameworks form the core of sustainability transition studies (Markard et al., 2012), a field of study that emerged in the 1990's (Sengers et al., 2019), which attempts to understand how transitions for sustainability come about and how to push transitions to move faster (Loorbach et al., 2017). Thus, a foundational concept of transition studies is the idea that unsustainable behavior is inherent to and driven by dominant STS, which are influenced by their societal and environmental surroundings (Loorbach & Shiroyama, 2016). For instance, "established technologies are highly intertwined with user practices and life styles, complementary technologies, business models, value chains, organizational structures, regulations, institutional structures, and even political structures" (Markard et al., 2012, p. 955). In other words, technology is integrated within and supported by social dimensions. This phenomenon, known as lock-in, alludes to the fact that dominant STS rarely experience radical changes, but rather incremental change (Markard et al., 2012).

2.2 Multi-Level Perspective

The MLP is a well-developed, abstract analytical framework commonly used to describe and understand socio-technical sustainability transitions (Geels, 2002; Geels & Schot, 2010; Markard et al., 2012). It is a process theory, which indicates that outcomes are explained "as the result of temporal sequences of events, timing and conjunctures of event-chains" (Geels & Schot, 2007, p. 414), where chains of events are processes orchestrated by situated actors. Moreover, this framework is based on the notion that societal challenges, such as climate change, can only be successfully addressed through deep-structural change (Geels, 2011).

The MLP framework relates three analytical levels: the niche, the regime, and the landscape (Geels, 2002), which broadly encompass the relationships between technology, politics, economics, and culture (Geels, 2011). The interactions between these levels determine how transitions develop (Geels & Schot, 2007). Furthermore, interactions are characterized as non-linear (Geels, 2011), complex, and multi-dimensional (Geels, 2010).

The socio-technical regime conceptualizes the lock-in and path dependency of a dominant sociotechnical system, like energy or transportation (Geels & Schot, 2010). Essentially, cognitive, regulative, and normative rules steer the actions taken by a wide range of actors and the interactions between these actors builds mutually dependent networks. This ultimately leads to the lock-in and path dependency of socio-technical systems (Geels & Schot, 2010). This process of stabilization is analytically explained by the regime concept (Geels, 2002). Thus, every socio-technical system is associated with its own regime (Geels, 2004). As illustrated in Figure 1, the interdependencies between networks within a regime can be further conceptualized by six sub-regimes: user preferences, infrastructure, science, policy, culture, and technology (Geels, 2004, 2011). In order for socio-technical systems to transition, a regime shift must occur (Geels, 2011). This shift is complex, occurs over longer periods of time, and is driven by many actors (Geels, 2011).



Figure 1. Depiction of the socio-technical regime and its interdependent and co-evolving sub-regimes (Geels, 2004). Throughout papers written about the multi-level perspective framework, sub-regime names shift and change (Geels, 2004, 2011; Geels et al., 2017a, 2017b; Geels & Schot, 2010). Common sub-regimes are represented in this figure. Figure adapted and created by author.

The niche is a protected space where radical innovations – in other words, innovations differing greatly from those which exist within regimes – may develop (Geels, 2011). Niche actors hope that these innovations will either replace regimes or be incorporated into them (Geels, 2011). Ultimately, niches "provide the seeds for systemic change" and are therefore imperative for transitions (Geels, 2011, p. 27).

Lastly, the landscape is the environment in which the niche and regime levels interact but cannot influence in the short term (Geels, 2011; Geels & Schot, 2007). As such, and as seen in Figure 2, it is the most stable analytical level. This environment may be categorized by "demographical trends, political ideologies, societal values, and macro-economic patterns" (Geels, 2011, p. 28).

Increasing degree of stability



Figure 2. Relative degree of stability between the multi-level perspective framework's analytical levels (Geels, 2011). Early work from Geels on the MLP depicts the three levels as a nested hierarchy (Geels, 2002, 2004). However, Geels (2011) retracts this conceptualization and amends that the levels "refer to different degrees of stability, which are not necessarily hierarchical" (p. 37). More specifically, the stability of local practices (within the regimes and niches) "relate to differences in scale and the number of actors" involved (Geels, 2011, p. 37). Figure adapted and created by author.

2.3 Experimentation

2.3.1 Defining Experimentation

Another central concept within sustainability transitions studies is experimentation (Sengers et al., 2019). Broadly, experimentation can be "conceptualized as an inclusive, practice-based and challengeled initiative designed to promote system innovation through social learning under conditions of uncertainty and ambiguity" (Sengers et al., 2019, p. 161). In line with this definition, Sengers et al. (2019) also specifies the following five attributes as central to experimentation:

- The experiment must have a "socio-technical" aspect. In other words, a new technology or social practice must be introduced into society.
- Established socio-technical systems are central to the way we currently live our lives. Thus, these experiments must provide initiatives which encourage system innovation that may lead to structural change.
- 3. The new technologies and social practices must address persistent societal problems that are related to the established socio-technical systems and have a normative orientation towards sustainability. This means that initiatives are challenge-led.
- 4. Experimentation must be inclusive, so that stakeholders are diverse and working towards social learning in relation to the new socio-technical configuration.
- 5. Experiments are practice-based, which means "a group of diverse social actors team up to test something new in a dynamic real-life social context with the eventual aim to achieve a societal transformation" (Sengers et al., 2019, p. 161).

There are six different conceptualizations of experimentation within sustainability transitions studies. They include niche experiments, bounded socio-technical experiments, grassroots experiments, transition experiments, sustainability experiments, and urban experiments (Sengers et al., 2019). However, urban experimentation will be the focus of this thesis as it is considered to be a prominent method for transforming the urban condition during this century (Evans, 2016).

Urban experimentation can be further segmented. Bulkeley and Castán Broto (2013) categorize urban experiments in three different ways: (1) governance experiments, (2) experiments relating to socio-technical systems and transformation, and (3) "strategic" experiments that focus on testing technical innovation through "living laboratories." I adopt the second conceptualization, as it is informed by the MLP (Bulkeley & Castán Broto, 2013), and thus, aligns with my conceptual frame. Within this conceptualization, urban experiments are seen as either processes of innovation where new technical solutions are refined or as experimental projects that are central to the creation of niches (Bulkeley & Castán Broto, 2013). This distinction has to do with a divide between technical and social innovation respectively. I will attempt to integrate these two perspectives: I argue that the development of Lund's new city district, Brunnshög, is in itself an urban experiment where both technical and social innovations take place. This urban experiment has resulted in the on-going construction of a built environment where innovation is politically encouraged and socially accepted, in other words a niche. Brunnshög provides a protected space for processes of both social and technical innovation, which may eventually challenge dominant socio-technical regimes in the city.

2.3.2 Epistemologies of Urban Experimentation

Four research epistemologies exist within studies relating cities to systemic change for sustainability (Wolfram & Frantzeskaki, 2016). Within the context of this thesis, these epistemologies classify how an urban experiment may approach systemic change for sustainability. However, only three relate to the STS ontology: (1) transforming urban mechanisms and political ecologies, (2) configuring urban innovation systems for green economies, and (3) empowering urban grassroots niches and social innovation (Wolfram & Frantzeskaki, 2016). These epistemologies have been substantiated empirically and conceptually and are partially based on seven basic drivers of societal change: political, economic, ecological, social, cultural, technological, and demographic (Wolfram & Frantzeskaki, 2016). A summary of these epistemologies is provided in Table 1.

Within the first epistemology, Wolfram & Frantzeskaki (2016) note that local government and infrastructure and technology providers are powerful stakeholders who use place based, socio-technical experimentation to explore new ways of providing urban energy, water, waste, and transport management. Their actions prioritize a reduction of the city's carbon and ecological footprints

alongside continued access to resources that support economic growth, protect local assets, and uphold present living standards. Other stakeholders, including industry, NGOs, and citizens, may be involved in testing new technologies, services, and usages within an urban area. Focus is given to STS that influence material and energy flows within cities and multi-level governance. The primary drivers of change within this epistemology can be characterized as political, economic, ecological, and technological (Wolfram & Frantzeskaki, 2016).

Within the second epistemology, Wolfram & Frantzeskaki (2016) emphasize production and consumption as primary concerns. There is a strong focus on "greening" the economy. Stakeholders include government agencies, industry, subject matter experts, and academic institutions. Their shared values and "cooperation culture" allow them to partner in ways that increase their competitiveness and reduce the resource intensity of some products and services. Change for sustainability is thus promoted "through local innovation systems for selected markets and socio-technical practices anchored in cities" (Wolfram & Frantzeskaki, 2016, pp. 10–11). The primary drivers of change within this epistemology can be characterized as economic, ecological, and technological. These are complemented slightly by social and cultural drivers of change (Wolfram & Frantzeskaki, 2016).

Within the third epistemology, Wolfram & Frantzeskaki (2016) emphasize that change for sustainability is driven by the application of a variety of approaches led by civil society actors within cities. Their actions stem from environmental concerns, are ethically justifiable, and serve to meet individual and group needs. Initiatives may be made within the areas of food, education, health, green space, and renewable energy, among others. Thus, there is often integration of socio-technical and socio-ecological initiatives. There is also a focus on scaling up initiatives. Ultimately, the transformative potential of initiatives within this epistemology is reliant on local institutional cultures and practices, as well as peer to peer relationships (Wolfram & Frantzeskaki, 2016). The primary drivers of change within this epistemology can be characterized as ecological, social, and cultural. These are complemented slightly by technological and demographic drivers of change (Wolfram & Frantzeskaki, 2016).

Table 1. Summary of socio-technical system epistemologies for urban experimentation
(Wolfram & Frantzeskaki, 2016). Table created by author.

Epistemology	Focus	Primary Stakeholders	Socio-Technical System Focus	Primary Drivers of Change
1. Transforming Urban Mechanisms and Political Ecologies	Reduce the city's carbon and ecological footprint Support economic growth Uphold present living standards	Local Government Infrastructure Providers Technology Providers	Energy and material flows (e.g. energy, water, waste, transport)	Political Economic Ecological Technological
2. Configuring Urban Innovation Systems for Green Economies	"Green" production and consumption patterns by decreasing their resource intensity	Government Agencies Industry Subject Matter Experts Academic Institutions	Local innovation systems related to product and service production	Economic Ecological Technological
3. Empowering Urban Grassroots Niches and Social Innovation	Take ethical action to meet individual and group needs while remaining cognizant of environmental concerns Scaling up initiatives	Civil Society Actors	Food, education, health, renewable energy, etc.	Ecological Social Cultural

2.4 Transition Pathways

Four transition pathways are associated with the MLP (Geels et al., 2016; Geels & Schot, 2007). These ideal-type transition pathways delineate different ways in which the three analytical levels of the MLP - the regime, niche, and landscape - may interact and lead to transformation (Geels & Schot, 2007).

The different pathways are characterized by the timing and nature of these interactions (Geels & Schot, 2007). The interactions between actors, formal institutions, and technologies have also been identified for every pathway (Geels et al., 2016). A transition movement can also switch between pathways as it develops over time (Geels et al., 2016; Geels & Schot, 2007).

Central to defining and differentiating the four typologies is an understanding of the "timing and nature of interactions" (Geels & Schot, 2007). Geels & Schot (2007) explain that timing has to do with the alignment of landscape pressure with the maturity of niche innovations. For example, the landscape may pressure the regime in such a way that "windows of opportunity" open for the niche innovation to become more prominent within a socio-technical regime or take over a socio-technical regime. However, if niche innovations are not fully developed, they will not be able to take full advantage of this window to drive a transition forward. The nature of the interactions has to do with the type of relationship the landscape and niche have with the regime. These relationships can be either reinforcing or disruptive. Any interaction that strengthens the regime is reinforcing, whereas any interaction that exerts pressure on the regime is seen as disruptive. Similarly, niche innovations can have a competitive or symbiotic relationship with the regime. Competitive innovations compete with the established regime, whereas symbiotic innovations can be adopted into the regime to solve problems (Geels & Schot, 2007).

Bulkeley and Castán Broto (2013) assert that experiments have a governance aspect and that the MLP framework has fallen short when it comes to politicizing experimentation and considering the role of conflict and power relations. In response, Geels et al. (2016) further advances the typology with a local conceptual logic in which the smaller, short-term action taken throughout an innovation's development is brought into focus. More specifically, the expected interactions between actors, institutions, and technologies are explicitly presented for each typology to illuminate how the struggles between actors can drive specific transition pathways and pathway shifts (Geels et al., 2016). It is this local context that allows for a richer application of the MLP framework and determination of the transition pathway in my case study.

Each of the following four sections expound on a single transition pathway. These pathways include transformation, de-alignment and re-alignment, technological substitution, and reconfiguration. A summary of these pathways is provided in Table 2.

2.4.1 Transformation

If the landscape exerts pressure on the regime, but niche innovations are not mature, then regime actors will have the opportunity to modify "the direction of development paths and innovation

activities" (Geels & Schot, 2007, p. 407). In this case, landscape pressure is disruptive, and nicheinnovations are symbiotic. Eventually, after many adjustments, a new regime will develop out of the old one, although regime actors will remain constant (Geels & Schot, 2007). That is not to say that incumbent actors resist change or are "locked in" to the dominant regime patterns. They do have the capacity to re-orient themselves decisively in a new direction (Geels et al., 2016). The degree of reorientation determines the amount of institutional change that occurs. If reorientation efforts are strong and new technologies are adopted quickly than a higher degree of institutional change may take place (Geels et al., 2016). Otherwise, a lack of reorientation efforts is associated with the incremental nature of technical niche-innovation adoption into the regime and this leads to limited institutional change (Geels et al., 2016). It is possible that institutional pressure evokes struggles between policy makers and industry actors (Geels et al., 2016).

2.4.2 De-alignment and Re-alignment

If the landscape pressure is large and sudden then significant pressure will be placed on the regime (Geels & Schot, 2007). If this causes regime tensions to escalate to a point where incumbent actors begin to lose faith, then the regime will begin to break down, which results in de-alignment (Geels & Schot, 2007). If during this time niche-innovations have failed to reach maturity, then there will be an emergence of and competition between multiple niche innovations (Geels & Schot, 2007). Eventually, one niche-innovation will become dominant and a new regime will re-align around it (Geels & Schot, 2007). Within this pathway, there is no direct confrontation between incumbent and new actors (Geels et al., 2016). By extension, there is no real competition between the niche-innovations and the 'old' technology. This is because the "old" technology loses its dominance with the de-alignment of the regime (Geels et al., 2016). Eventually de-aligned institutions are replaced, but there could be a long period of uncertainty while these new institutions are built up (Geels et al., 2016).

2.4.3 Technological Substitution

If the landscape pressure is large and niche-innovations are mature then the niche-innovation will become dominant and thus induce a regime shift (Geels & Schot, 2007). However, in this case, the regime is not completely destabilized before the niche-innovation attempts to replace the old technology. Thus, there is competition between incumbent and new actors (Geels & Schot, 2007). Niche innovations may be pushed to compete with the old technology by both "outsiders," such as activists, social movements, and citizens, or by incumbents who have switched sectors (Geels et al., 2016). Within this pathway, institutions can either experience limited change or disruptive change. Limited institutional change is the norm when the developed niche-innovations fit into existing rules

and institutions, and disruptive change occurs when they do not and institutions are forced to adjust (Geels et al., 2016). These institutional struggles will likely incite power struggles (Geels et al., 2016).

2.4.4 Reconfiguration

When niche innovations are symbiotic, the regime will adopt them in order to solve local problems. Eventually, innovation adoption may create tension within the regime that opens up opportunities for an increasing number of niche-innovations to be adopted, which causes "adjustments in the basic architecture of the regime" (Geels & Schot, 2007, p. 411). Knock-on effects, which refer to new combinations between innovations, may also prompt structural changes within the regime (Geels et al., 2016). Generally, these adoptions are motivated by economic reasons, improved performance for example (Geels & Schot, 2007). Although the incumbent actors are not removed in this transition pathway, competition and tension is still evident (Geels & Schot, 2007), as new alliances may be formed with new actors (Geels et al., 2016). Institutional change is limited at the start of this process, but eventually substantial change occurs (Geels et al., 2016).

Table 2. Summary of transition pathways (Geels et al., 2016; Geels & Schot, 2007). Table adapted and created by author.

TRANSITION PATHWAY	NATURE OF LANDSCAPE	NICHE- INNOVATION MATURITY	NATURE OF NICHE- INNOVATION	оитсоме	ACTORS
Transformation	Disruptive	Not Mature	Symbiotic	Regime actors modify the development path of the regime and adopt niche-innovations The degree of reorientation determines the degree of institutional change Eventually, a new regime emerges out of the old one, but the basic regime structure does not change	Regime actors are not replaced Policy makers and industry actors struggle with each other
De-alignment and Re-alignment	Disruptive	Not Mature	Competitive	Landscape pressure causes regime tensions to increase The regime breaks down Niche-innovations compete to replace the regime One niche-innovation becomes dominant	Regime actors are replaced No direct confrontation between incumbent and new actors occurs
Technological Substitution	Disruptive	Mature	Competitive	The niche-innovation replaces the regime and a regime shift occurs The degree of institutional change depends on whether the niche-innovation aligns with existing rules and institutions	Regime actors are replaced Competition between incumbent and new actors occurs
Reconfiguration	Disruptive	Not Mature	Symbiotic	Adoption of niche-innovations by the regime alters the structure of the regime New combinations of niche-innovations create knock-on effects Institutional change grows over time	Regime actors are not replaced Competition among regime actors exists and new alliances may be formed with new actors

3 Method

The proposed research questions were investigated via case study, which is an established qualitative approach where a real-life, bounded system is explored over time using multiple sources of information to provide a case description and identify case themes (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Furthermore, the case analysis was theoretically informed.

3.1 Theoretical Development

This thesis' theoretical foundations are rooted in sustainability transition studies. This field was initially explored through a literature review, which revealed the divide between socio-technical (STS) and socio-ecological systems (SES), of which STS were chosen for further exploration. A dominant theoretical framework within this ontology is the multi-level perspective (MLP), which was explored extensively through a second literature review. The first literature review included searches in Google Scholar using the term "sustainability transition studies" and snowballing from the reference lists of those articles. The second literature review consisted most prominently of Geels' and Geels and Schot's primary works on the subject matter. Most importantly, the review of the MLP literature provided an introduction to transition pathways, which outline the different ways in which a transition may occur, based on the characterization of interactions between the analytical levels of the MLP (Geels et al., 2016; Geels & Schot, 2007). The MLP in conjunction with the transition pathways provided the theoretical basis for answering the second research question.

The initial review of sustainability transitions literature also revealed the existence of research centered around urban experimentation. A third literature review of this material was conducted through keyword searches in Google and Google Scholar and snowballing from relevant articles. Keywords included combinations of "urban experiment," "sustainability transitions," and "Sweden." This search not only revealed literature specifying how to classify urban experiments, but also literature describing how to categorize research within four epistemologies, of which three were relevant to STS. This literature review in conjunction with the one concerning the MLP provided the theoretical basis for answering the first research question. These connections are depicted in Figure 3.

3.2 Case Boundaries

Brunnshög was chosen as the case study because, as outlined in section 2.3.1, it is a prime example of urban experimentation in Sweden. Not to mention, there are a large number of innovations planned for the area, which provides for an interesting and worthwhile MLP analysis. Importantly, this case is bounded by space and time. Brunnshög is a developing district whose planning phase was initiated in 2010 and whose development is ongoing (Lund Municipality, 2012a, 2019). As such, the overlapping

15

planning, development, and living phases between 2010 and the present, were included within the bounds of this case study. Additionally, only innovations planned to take place within the area of Brunnshög and the tram line running through the city of Lund, whose construction was motivated by Brunnshög's development (Lund Municipality, 2019), were considered as part of the study. More specifically, this case study can be classified as instrumental since the main interest lies within the insights Brunnshög may provide with regards to the importance of urban experimentation for sustainability transitions in Sweden.

3.3 Data Collection and Analysis

Since data collection for case studies requires that two or more sources of information are used (Creswell & Poth, 2018), I chose to review relevant documents, as well as conduct semi-structured interviews. Since Brunnshög is still at the start of the development phase, I chose to review all the documents outlining the vision of Brunnshög. Interviewing was chosen as the second source of information since speaking with people involved in the project, who have extensive knowledge about the entire planning and development process, could reveal details or nuances not captured in public documents. In this way, the document review and interviews should provide complementary information. The documents reviewed were primarily sourced from Lund Municipality's website for Brunnshög. I reviewed all material available on the website and chose the documents that were most relevant to developing an in-depth case description and answering my research questions. In this way, I ensured that the majority of reviewed documents were primary sources. The few documents sourced outside the municipality's website were recommended or provided by members of the municipality. In the end, two key-informant interviews were carried out. One interview was not recorded, although extensive notes were taken, while the other was recorded and transcribed. The interviews lasted between 30 minutes and an hour.

While many innovations for Brunnshög were proposed, I identified niche-innovations as those that were presented as special to Brunnshög. I then classified these innovations according to the STS to which they were most relevant. Of the five STS identified, the four most prominent were selected as the case themes. These themes then became the focus of the document review I performed to explore current, dominant regimes. In this instance, I reviewed material from government websites, legal documents and reports, and searched for literature through Google and Google Scholar using each regime name paired with a location (e.g. transport system in Lund). I used the knowledge I gained while researching Brunnshög and the regimes to identify relevant proponents of the landscape and then performed Google and Google Scholar searches to find specific information supporting those topics.

16

Identifying aspects of the niche, regimes, and landscape, as they relate to the case study of Brunnshög and the case themes, allowed for the application of the MLP framework to address my research questions. An analysis of regime-niche and landscape-regime interactions helped me identify Lund's current transition pathway and Brunnshög's role in upholding it. This directly addressed my second research question. The first research question is partially answered by the identification and classification of regime-niche interactions. In order to finish answering the first research question, I used the urban experiment epistemologies to identify the approach to urban experimentation that is being taken in Brunnshög. While the discussion surrounding regime-niche interactions provided a nuanced look at how specific innovations targeted established STS, this classification provided insight into Brunnshög's general approach to innovation and change. This analytical process is depicted in Figure 3, as are the relationships between my theoretical and analytical processes.



Figure 3. Theoretical and analytical process (own illustration). Theoretical relationships are represented by the green boxes and arrows, while the analytical process is represented by the brown boxes and arrows. RQ1 and RQ2 indicate the analytical processes used to answer research questions 1 and 2 respectively. Bolded text indicates the data collection method used to gain the specified information.

3.4 Limitations

There are two major limitations to this research design. First, although the start of this case can be traced back to the early 90s, it is still ongoing today. In fact, Brunnshög's development is expected to continue for another 35-40 years. This is a limitation in the study, since conclusions about Brunnshög's greater impact are largely drawn from visioning documents about future development plans. Thus, any conclusions drawn with regards to this represent the intent and potential of the project, rather than decisive deductions. Second, given current events, the acquisition of interviews was difficult. However, the interviews that could be obtained were immensely helpful in identifying development dynamics not portrayed in official reports and great suggestions were made for further research. It would have strengthened the analysis though if more interviews could have been conducted.

4 The Case of Brunnshög

Brunnshög is a new district of Lund being developed in the North-East (Lund Municipality, 2012a). Lund municipality has guided Brunnshög's development since the area was first conceptualized in the late 1990s (Lund Municipality, 2012a). It was not until 2006, however, that the first framework for the area was developed (Lund Municipality, 2012a). This framework was further revised in 2010 and the first document depicting how the framework could be actualized was published in 2012 (Lund Municipality, 2012a). This document (revised further in both 2016 (Lund Municipality, 2016c) and 2019 (Lund Municipality, 2019)) provides an in depth, publicly accessible vision for the area's development and its overarching goals (Lund Municipality, 2012a). Namely, that Brunnshög aims to develop the world's best research, innovation, and living environment where new solutions for sustainability are sought (Lund Municipality, 2012a). Furthermore, Brunnshög aims to be a leader in sustainability (Lund Municipality, 2019) and sustainable development (Lund Municipality, 2012a). In other words, a European best practice example that demonstrates how to take responsibility locally for the global challenge that is climate change (Lund Municipality, 2019).

4.1 Physical Layout

Brunnshög's development was partially motivated by the planned construction of two research facilities, the European Spallation Source (ESS) and MAX IV (personal communication, February 28, 2020), which are expected to create one of the world's leading centers for materials research; an area that attracts nearly 8,000 visiting researchers annually (Lund Municipality, 2012a). Those working in these facilities will need places to gather and live, so Science Village will be constructed in the area between them (Lund Municipality, 2012a). However, these facilities are located slightly outside of the urban area of the city and this provides an expansion opportunity (personal communication, February 28, 2020). As seen in Figure 4, the area connecting the built city with these research facilities will consist of Södra Brunnshög [Southern Brunnshög], Västra Brunnshög [Western Brunnshög], Centrala Brunnshög [Central Brunnshög], and Råängen. Other development areas of note include Bygatorna [Village Streets] and Kunskapsparken [Knowledge Park]. Additionally, a tram line will run from Lund's train station to ESS, connecting Brunnshög to the rest of the city (Lund Municipality, 2019). MAX IV opened in 2016 and ESS is under construction with an opening planned for 2023 (MAX IV and ESS, 2020). Meanwhile, construction of Södra Brunnshög began in 2015 (Lund Municipality, 2016c) and the first resident building was completed and populated in this area in 2019 (Lund Municipality, 2019). Construction in this area is ongoing and the construction of the entire district is expected to take 40 years to complete (Lund Municipality, 2016c). This longer time period necessitates a continuously evolving and iterative planning process (Lund Municipality, 2012a).





4.2 Planning Process and Primary Stakeholders

A 2014 amendment to the Planning and Building Act prevents municipalities from making specific demands of their development partners regarding technical standards (*Planning and Building Act*,

2018; personal communication, March 31, 2020). Thus, the municipality has adapted a unique contractor recruitment strategy to ensure that overall sustainability goals are still being met. Now, the municipality proposes the overall sustainability goal, such as having designated areas for more urban food production, and the contractors develop their own methods for meeting that challenge (personal communication, March 31, 2020). In the end, the municipality gives the project to the contractor who they believe has developed the most interesting solution and a sustainability agreement is reached (personal communication, March 31, 2020). This agreement is a needed tool for dialog in the absence of top-down directives and naturally places an emphasis on collaboration (personal communication, March 31, 2020). In this way, the developers have the freedom to create their own, innovative solutions to sustainability challenges and the municipality hires developers who have greater motivation, March 31, 2020). The importance of collaboration in the development process is also emphasized in the original visioning document (Lund Municipality, 2012a), which indicates that it was held as an ideal even before the current recruitment strategy was enforced by law.

Primary stakeholders include Lund municipality, Kraftringen (energy company), VA Syd (water management company), and the municipality's Department of Waste Management (personal communication, March 31, 2020). Additionally, Lund University and Region Skåne own stakes in the development of Science Village, Max IV is a Lund University facility, and ESS is a European facility whose development has been dependent on researchers and engineers from all over the world (personal communication, February 28, 2020). MAX IV, ESS, and Science Village are independent projects to a certain extent and are becoming more autonomous from Lund Municipality as time goes on (personal communication, February 28, 2020). Notably, there was little community input throughout the planning process (personal communication, February 28, 2020). The municipality does hope to increase citizen participation though since people are now moving into the area (personal communication, February 28, 2020). Future development areas are yet to be fully designed (Lund Municipality, 2016c), which provides an opportunity for community members to become more involved in Brunnshög's ongoing development. Indeed, the original visioning document does indicate that this involvement is desired (Lund Municipality, 2012a).

4.3 Sustainability Orientation

The Brunnshög project is oriented towards sustainability because the vision for the area and its continued development has occurred in a time when sustainability is acquiring more and more awareness (personal communication, February 28, 2020, March 31, 2020). During this time, it has become increasingly clear that action must be taken to lessen global warming (IPCC, 2014, 2018).

Therefore, throughout the project, there has been political unity within the city of Lund that new city development should be as sustainable as possible (personal communication, March 31, 2020).

This has led to the development of three primary sustainability principles that all sustainable development in Brunnshög is centered around (Lund Municipality, 2018): (1) minimize climate impact, (2) balance the use of quality agricultural land, and (3) maximize experiences, sensory and otherwise, and meeting places (Lund Municipality, 2012a, 2016c, 2019; personal communication, February 28, 2020). These principles are associated with economic, ecological, and social & cultural sustainability respectively (Lund Municipality, 2012a, 2016c, 2019).

4.4 The Importance of Economic Growth

A desire for economic growth exists alongside this focus on ecological, economic, and social sustainability. The economic component of sustainability addressed within the project does not attempt to limit growth, but rather centers around minimizing the climate impact associated with everyday living. In other words, increasing the efficiency of systems and decreasing use of fuels that emit GHG (Lund Municipality, 2018).

The development of Science Village is a clear example of Brunnshög's aim to increase growth. Science Village is envisioned as a business base that integrates different people and experiences (Lund Municipality, 2012a). This area will provide space for business and research to come together in order to promote innovation and the development of new companies that are capable of translating research into new products and services (Lund Municipality, 2012a). Additionally, Lund Municipality (2012a) has stated that the tram needs to be attractive to businesses. These businesses, as well as other services and dense buildings will surround tram stops in order to encourage people to exit (Lund Municipality, 2012a). Lastly, Brunnshög is intended to act as a tourist destination, where people are attracted by restaurants, culture, science, and recreation (Lund Municipality, 2019). These initiatives will draw people and business into the area, which is sure to contribute to economic growth.

4.5 Community and Innovation

Ideas centered around increasing a sense of community and providing experiences are central to Brunnshög's plan for social sustainability. The developers of Brunnshög aim to create a space where the environment itself is filled with experiences that stimulate the senses (Lund Municipality, 2012a). These experiences are thought to increase individuals' ability to thrive, and to be curious and spontaneous, as well as stimulate a good quality of life (Lund Municipality, 2012a). Meeting places are also planned to promote human interaction (Lund Municipality, 2018). Importantly, these meeting places could be as mundane as trash collection sites (personal communication, February 28, 2020) or as exciting as recycling rooms that double as a repair workshop, boutique, and café (Lund Municipality, 2018). The provision of experiences, meeting places, and ultimately a good living quality are expected to inspire creativity and innovation (Lund Municipality, 2018). Therefore, innovators will also be given space to test and share their ideas (Lund Municipality, 2018). These innovations are expected to target city challenges since Brunnshög will be a place where the conditions for living a sustainable lifestyle are created (Lund Municipality, 2018).

4.6 Niche-Innovations

The multi-level perspective framework broadly classifies niche-innovations as innovations that differ greatly from those which exist within dominant regimes. Therefore, while reviewing these documents, I pinpointed ideas and technologies that were presented as special to Brunnshög (Lund Municipality, 2012a, 2016c, 2018, 2019). Then I determined which socio-technical systems (STS) were most closely associated with these technologies and ideas, or niche-innovations. The identified niche-innovations, as well as their associated STS are presented in Table 3.

Table 3. Brunnshög's niche-innovations and associated socio-technical systems. The attribution of the innovations to specific socio-technical systems in column one was my own determination. The information presented in column two was gathered and synthesized from Lund Municipality reports (Lund Municipality, 2012a, 2016c, 2018, 2019) and an interview (personal communication, March 31, 2020). Since Brunnshög is still developing, some of these innovations are still visionary. Table created by author.

Socio-Technical System	Niche-Innovation
Transport	Two-thirds of traffic in and out of Brunnshög will consist of public transport, walking, and biking. The last third may be made up of cars.
	Pedestrians and cyclists are prioritized over cars in the district's street design. A car-free inner core will be promoted.
	Offer collective car parking solutions in order to increase carpooling and provide competitive advantages to other means of transport.
	Offer charging stations for electric cars in carparks.
	A new tram will connect Lund Central to ESS.
Energy & Heat	Energy sourced for Brunnshög is ideally local and climate neutral.
	Excess heat from MAX IV and ESS will be recycled for use in Brunnshög's buildings through both a normal and low temperature district heating system. This system will be the largest low temperature district heating network in the world.
	The buildings in Brunnshög will produce their own solar electricity.
	A smart grid may be used to control electricity production and consumption.
	Vacuum collection systems will transport waste directly to the waste center (i.e. collection vehicles will not be needed).
Waste Management	The repair of items should be prioritized over recycling them.
	A circular and sharing economy is encouraged over a linear economy.
	At least 50 percent of food waste will be recycled as such.
Food Production	Combine the qualities of urban and rural living by providing opportunities for residents to have urban farms in courtyards and on roofs and balconies.
	Facilitate plant growth in courtyards by minimizing sealed surface areas.
	30 percent of the land used to build upon must be capable of being restored to arable land in the future.
	Integrate some stormwater management into city spaces in order to
water Management	minimize flooding, maintain stormwater quality, and control the negative effects of rainy weather.

I will discuss these innovations further in sections 5.3 and 5.4 in relation to the landscape and relevant regimes. This analysis will focus on the four most prevalent STS: transportation, energy and heating, waste management, and food production.

5 Landscape, Regimes, and Niche-Innovations

In this thesis, I designate the city of Lund itself as the socio-technical regime, Brunnshög as the niche, and innovations within Brunnshög as niche-innovations. Relating the district of Brunnshög and the city of Lund to the multi-level perspective (MLP) framework in this way localizes the multi-level analysis. Doing so bounds the regime and niche analysis to technology, politics, economics, and culture present at the local level. However, I acknowledge that the socio-technical landscape is nationally and internationally constructed to a certain extent, so identifying Sweden's political ideology and macro-economic patterns, as well as global influences, will be necessary.

The first two sections of this chapter present justified descriptions of the landscape and regimes. The final two sections present an analysis of interlevel interactions based on the information provided in previous sections and the MLP framework.

5.1 Landscape

The landscape categorizes influences that are outside the realm within which the regime and niche have direct, short-term power (Geels, 2011). This may include, for example, political ideologies, macroeconomic patterns (Geels, 2011), public awareness, and government commitments (Fischer & Newig, 2016). With regards to the Brunnshög case, there are three relevant landscape components: (1) Swedish urban planning is decentralized, (2) Swedish policy concerning sustainability and sustainable urban development is characterized by eco-modernity, and (3) global awareness of both climate change and the necessity of radical action is growing.

Sweden's government is characterized as a parliamentary democracy and consists of three different levels – the national, regional and local (*How Sweden Is Governed*, 2020). Importantly, the local and regional levels are responsible for different tasks, and as a result, are not hierarchical (*Municipalities and Regions*, n.d.). The local level is made up of 290 municipalities (*How Sweden Is Governed*, 2020) and it is to this authority that Sweden's national government has awarded the responsibility for urban planning (*Planning Process*, 2018). Along with the Planning and Building Act and Environmental Code, national objectives are provided by the State to guide development, but the municipalities are largely free to determine how these overall objectives are met (Madureira, 2014; *Planning Process*, 2018). Thus, urban planning has been decentralized within Sweden and this naturally impacts urban planning practices.

In 1987, the World Commission on Environment and Development (WCED) published a report entitled "Our Common Future," which is commonly recognized as the Brundtland Report today. In this report sustainable development is defined as "development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs" (p. 37), which requires that social equity and ecological factors are considered when making economic decisions (WCED, 1987). Sweden's Environmental Code defines the country's conceptualization of sustainable development, which is in line with the Brundtland report (Miljöbalk, 1999). Sustainable development was first established as a national goal in 1998 (Hilding-Rydevik et al., 2011; Svenska miljömål, 1998). This focus on sustainable development has continued to expand over the last 20 years. In 2015, Sweden announced that it aimed to be one of the first fossil-free nations (Ministry of the Environment and Energy, 2015). The introduction of the Swedish climate policy framework followed in 2017 (Ministry of the Environment and Energy, 2018a). This framework details how the Paris Agreement will be implemented within the country, and the associated climate act took affect January 1, 2018 (Ministry of the Environment and Energy, 2018a). Most recently, in 2018, Sweden's first national strategy for urban development was published (Ministry of the Environment and Energy, 2018b). Given the country's alignment with the Brundtland report, it is unsurprising that action taken throughout this time can be characterized as eco-modern, which is defined by Midttun and Olsson (2018) in the Nordic context as "the coupling of ecological sustainability to industrial development and welfare creation in order for a country to benefit from its resources and capabilities, while also furthering green growth" (p. 215). Given that sustainability and sustainable development have been increasingly present in policy and action over the past 20 years, I argue that it has become a part of Sweden's political ideology.

Finally, ratification of the 2015 Paris Agreement, recent IPCC reports, and the ongoing youth movement have greatly increased awareness of climate change, and awareness that actions being taken today will not be enough to limit climate change to 1.5°C. The Paris Agreement commits countries to take action that would prevent the global temperature from rising 2°C above pre-industrial levels (United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change [UNFCCC], n.d.). This agreement is attempting to coordinate a global response to climate change that is unprecedented (UNFCC, n.d.). As of 2020, 187 countries have ratified the agreement (Apparicio & Sauer, 2020). In the fall of 2018, the IPCC released a special report about global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels which underscored the necessity of "rapid, far-reaching and unprecedented changes in all aspects of society" if global warming is to be effectively mitigated (IPCC Secretariat, 2018, p. 1).

Furthermore, Greta Thunberg, a Swedish activist, references this IPCC report in her speech to the National Assembly in Paris in the summer of 2019 where she asks leaders to listen to and unite behind the science with regards to action for climate change (FridaysForFuture, 2019). Greta is just one of many child activists around the world (Parker, 2020). However, she sparked the international Fridays

25

for Future movement, in which children skip school on Fridays to strike for the climate (Haynes, 2019). On March 15, 2019, it is estimated that 1.6 million people in 133 countries were striking for the climate (Haynes, 2019). Young people around the world have joined a movement that is continually pressuring national governments to take the steps needed to successfully address global warming and climate change.

5.2 Regimes

As described in section 2.2., socio-technical systems (STS) are defined by a dominant regime that consists of six sub-regimes that, when aligned, can reinforce the dominant regime, causing STS lock-in (Geels, 2004). In order to address the first research question, a comparison must be made between the STS' associated regimes and sub-regimes and the niche-innovations within Brunnshög. Therefore, only the regimes of the STS within Lund that are most relevant to the case study of Brunnshög will be summarized. These include the transportation, energy and heating, waste management, and food production systems. Developing a clear understanding of these regimes is also central to answering the second research question, since classifying the interactions between the niche-innovations, regimes, and landscape allows for the identification of the current transition pathway in Lund.

5.2.1 Transport

A long-term, sustainable transport system is a central policy objective of Sweden's national government (Stjernborg & Mattisson, 2016). However, by law, regional administrative authorities manage regional public transport (Stjernborg & Mattisson, 2016). This results in some differentiation across the country with regards to what transport systems truly attempt to achieve (Stjernborg & Mattisson, 2016). In their report envisioning transport infrastructure development from 2018 to 2029, Region Skåne (n.d.) names system efficiency, accessibility, and environmental friendliness as priorities alongside increasing investment into public transport options and cycling. Current transport options within Skåne, and Lund specifically, include walking, bicycling, and traveling by train, bus, and car (Region Skåne, n.d.). Lund Municipality (2012b) relayed in their traffic strategy for Brunnshög, that between 55 and 60 percent of traffic in the area was made up of cars.

Important actors in this sector include Region Skåne, Skånetrafiken, and Lund Municipality. Region Skåne has the final word on decisions concerning public transport in Skåne (*Our Responsibilities*, 2018). Region Skåne carries out its work through the Skånetrafiken administration (*Our Commission in Public Transport*, 2018), who communicates with municipalities in turn (Region Skåne, 2018).

26

5.2.2 Energy and Heating

Energy sources primarily support electricity, heat, and fuel generation (Swedish Energy Agency, 2019). These are then predominately used within the transport, residential and service, and industry sectors (Swedish Energy Agency, 2019). As of 2017, electricity is mainly used in the residential and service sector, the industrial sector is most heavily dependent on biofuels, and the transport sector derives 75 percent of its energy use from petroleum products (Swedish Energy Agency, 2019). Swedish energy goals mandate that energy efficiency should increase 20 percent between 2008 and 2020 and that renewable energy should make up a minimum of 50 percent of total energy use by 2020 (Swedish Energy Agency, 2019). These goals make clear that, within this sector, sustainability is synonymous with renewable energy use.

The heating market is the second largest energy market in the country (Swedish Energy Agency, 2019) and is predominately made up of district heating, electric heating, heat pumps, and biofuel boilers (Sköldberg & Rydén, 2014). Of the four, district heating is the most used technology (Sköldberg & Rydén, 2014). The heating market is efficient in terms of both energy and resource use. In this way, it is already considered to be very environmentally sustainable and is a main contributor to Sweden's sustainable development goals (Sköldberg & Rydén, 2014). Indeed, fossil fuel use within the heating market has decreased by 90 percent over the last 20 years (Sköldberg & Rydén, 2014).

Kraftringen is an energy company owned by four municipalities, including Lund (*Kraftringen*, 2019). This company handles a share of electricity distribution, as well as district heating and cooling in Lund and their district heating system has run on renewable energy since 2018 (*Kraftringen*, 2019).

5.2.3 Waste Management

According to Sweden's environmental code, waste management includes the collection, transport, recycling, and disposal of waste (Miljöbalk, 1999). Municipalities determine how waste management will be carried out (Avfall Sverige, 2019). Typically, management practices prioritize an overall reduction in waste production, followed by reuse, recycling, energy recovery, and landfilling (Avfall Sverige, 2019). In Lund, the municipality's department of waste management is responsible for the collection of waste (2016b), although everyone, including individuals, households and companies, must take care of their waste in ways that preserve human health and the environment, which includes sorting and recycling (Lund Municipality, 2016a). Furthermore, Lund Municipality (2016b) released a visioning document that defines three focuses of sustainability: (1) consuming sustainably in order to reduce waste, (2) sorting waste sustainably in order to increase recycling, and (3) handling waste in

ways that promote a clean environment. Sustainability is not only central to transport and energy system development, but to the waste system as well.

5.2.4 Food Production

About half of the land available in Skåne is agricultural and contributes 16 percent of the total agricultural land in the country (Statistics Sweden, 2013). As of 2015, about 55 percent of the land in Lund Municipality was agricultural and just over ten percent was developed (Statistics Sweden, 2015a). As urban areas expand though, this agricultural land becomes threatened, since developed land typically cannot be reconverted to arable land (Hallgren, 2015). Within Sweden and Lund, there is a clear demarcation between the function of urban and rural areas, so agricultural land is solely responsible for commercial food production within the country (Statistics Sweden, 2015a). Sweden does not have the capacity to support current consumption levels though (Hallgren, 2015), so a large percentage of food must be imported.

On the other hand, there is a tradition of urban cultivation where those living in the city have the opportunity to rent out a limited number of allotment gardens where they may grow fruits and vegetables for personal consumption (*Cultivation plots and urban gardening*, 2019). Lund also provides these plots, whose allocation is controlled by the municipality (*Cultivation plots and urban gardening*, 2019). As of 2015, Skåne offered the largest number of plots of any county at 576, of which 48 were available in Lund Municipality (Statistics Sweden, 2015b).

According to the Swedish Board of Agriculture, the national government has published a food strategy to guide national policy related to food production through 2030 (Jordbruksverket, 2018). This strategy emphasizes the importance of establishing both a sustainable and competitive food supply chain (Jordbruksverket, 2018).

5.2.5 Socio-Technical System Interconnectivity

As shown in Figure 5, these STS are interconnected. Food waste can be collected and processed to produce either bio-fertilizer or biogas (Lunds Renhållningsverk, n.d.). The biofertilizer can be used on agricultural fields to aid in further food production, whereas biofuel can be used as an energy source (Lunds Renhållningsverk, n.d.). Biofuel can be processed into a liquid fuel for vehicles or it can be used to produce heat and electricity that supports district and electric heating systems (Avfall Sverige, 2019; Lunds Renhållningsverk, n.d.). As of 2012, Lund Municipality ran all city buses and 50 percent of waste collection vehicles on biogas (Lunds Renhållningsverk, n.d.). Additionally, general waste incineration can also support heat and electricity production (Avfall Sverige, 2019). Within Sweden, energy recovery via waste incineration supplies 680,000 households with electricity and 1.2 million households with

district heating (Avfall Sverige, 2019). Figure 5 demonstrates that STS within urban areas are interconnected and that action taken within a single system can have ripple effects across many others.



Figure 5. Interconnectivity of socio-technical systems (own illustration).

5.3 Regime-Niche Interactions

Lund Municipality is an incumbent regime actor that has initiated and steered the development of Brunnshög from the beginning. Thus, the development of most niche-innovations are being guided by stakeholders who also hold power within the current regimes, such as Kraftringen, the municipality's Department of Waste Management, Lund University, and Region Skåne, among others. The major opportunity for actors outside the regime to make an impact is through a development contract for an area of Brunnshög or through citizen participation. However, the companies chosen for these development projects must be approved by Lund Municipality, and the municipality has just begun interacting with the community.

National, and therefore municipal, sustainability goals center around reducing GHG emissions (Midttun & Olsson, 2018). Given that the transport sector derives 75 percent of its energy from petroleum products (Swedish Energy Agency, 2019) and accounts for 32 percent of national GHG emissions (Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, 2018), it is being heavily targeted in Brunnshög. In order to limit these emissions, developers have set a goal for Brunnshög requiring that two-thirds of transport needs in and out of Brunnshög must eventually be met by public transport, walking and biking. This niche-idea is directly competing with the transport regime. Action to make this a reality includes prioritizing pedestrians and bikers when designing the streets so that the inner areas of the district remain car-free. Additionally, collective car parking solutions and carpooling services will be offered. Finally, in order to support the transportation needs of this new district, the first tram line in Lund is being constructed. The tram is considered to be space efficient, quiet, and run on green electricity (Lund Municipality, 2017). By making it harder to park, limiting the areas where cars are allowed to drive, and providing an additional public transport option, the developers of Brunnshög are

incentivizing car-free travel and undermining the most common transport method. The tram's development is being managed by Skånetrafiken and Lund Municipality. These actions are not being taken to the detriment of economic growth, however. The municipality intends for public transport to "ensure the future of retailers and businesses," whilst allowing for city expansion (Lund Municipality, 2017, p. 2). The tramline in particular is considered "a regional investment in the future" with regards to sustainability and growth, as it "will be the driving force of development along its route," with 30 percent of Lund's expansion through 2050 planned along its path (Lund Municipality, 2017, p. 2). Action being taken within the transport sector is a clear example of eco-modernization.

Energy industries are responsible for 17 percent of national GHG emissions (Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, 2018). Nearly three quarters of this can be attributed to the heating market (Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, 2018). Though it is substantially more sustainable than the transport sector, lowering heating emissions is still necessary. Brunnshög is able to do this through the adoption of a low temperature district heating (LTDH) system. Brunnshög is uniquely positioned to take advantage of excess heat being produced by the two large research facilities, ESS and MAX IV. Reusing this heat within a LTDH system will contribute to Brunnshög's vision for sourcing local and climate neutral energy. LTDH systems also have better efficiency than standard district heating systems (Schmidt et al., 2017) and are a developing technology (Werner, 2017). Kraftringen will attempt to construct the largest LTDH system in the world within Brunnshög. Given that district heating has been used within Sweden since 1948 and comprised 55 percent of the heating market in 2014 (Werner, 2017), this technology is symbiotic with the current regime and can be incorporated to further improve the existing system.

Plans for the waste management system also support transport goals. If streets are to be designed for pedestrians and cyclists, and cars are to be kept out of many areas within the district, then there will be no room for large waste collection vehicles to maneuver. Therefore, the Department of Waste Management has decided to incorporate a vacuum waste system into Brunnshög's development from the start. According to the 2018 report on Sweden's waste management system, the implementation of vacuum waste systems is increasing throughout cities and within newly built areas (Avfall Sverige, 2019). This innovation, while not brand new, is central to facilitating Brunnshög's pedestrian-centric design aspirations. Its adoption into the current system is already underway, which indicates a symbiotic relationship with the waste management regime. However, its application strives to support a truly niche urban design concept within the transport sector. Therefore, I have determined that this innovation supports other niche-innovations' competition with the transport regime.

Consistent with this regime's current stance policy-wise, reusing and repairing items will be prioritized over recycling of those same items within Brunnshög. This feeds directly into Brunnshög's aim to encourage a circular or sharing economy. Spaces needed to repair and exchange items will be created throughout Brunnshög. These spaces will double as meeting places and also serve to promote a stronger sense of community within the district, which also challenges current cultural norms (personal communication, February 28, 2020). Lastly, biogas production from food waste currently fuels all city busses in the city of Lund. Brunnshög aims for 50 percent of food waste to be recycled as such within Brunnshög, which would support this more established innovation. This action is not innovative within itself, but instead serves to preserve and strengthen an innovation that has been adopted within Lund and will continue to be utilized in Brunnshög.

Space for urban gardening within parks, courtyards, balconies, and atop roofs will be provided in Brunnshög and is disruptive to the food production regime's separation of rural and urban land as land for food production and land for residence and businesses respectively. This separation is currently culturally and infrastructurally enforced. Providing space for urban gardening throughout the district challenges this though by making gardening central to daily life. Additionally, building in a way that allows for the possibility of future restoration of arable land is directly counter to typical design plans and may be vital to food production in the future.

5.4 Landscape-Regime Interactions

Rising global awareness of climate change has resulted in social movements, like Fridays for Future, that put pressure on national governments to take action which mitigates global warming. This pressure is exerted across all STS regimes. In the Brunnshög project, the landscape pressure resultant from global climate change awareness is specifically cited as motivation for the development's sustainability orientation. Sustainability, as a national, political ideology also serves to pressure municipalities. Thus, the pressure on urban developers to align their actions with ecological, economic, and social sustainability objectives is felt both nationally and internationally. However, as Sweden is taking an eco-modern approach, sustainability is prioritized alongside economic growth and social equity. Given Sweden's decentralized urban planning scheme, municipalities may prioritize the three slightly differently, which could potentially hinder the full adoption of niche-innovations into Swedish society. Therefore, a nationally coordinated response to sustainable development with regards to the nature and timing of niche-innovations may not be possible. This indicates that a system of decentralized urban planning has the potential to reinforce regimes by preventing wide-spread adoption of niche-innovations, and, by extension, full regime shifts. On the other hand, this decentralized system gives municipalities the flexibility to experiment with different innovations. In

31

this scenario, many different innovations can be tested simultaneously and, with some intermunicipal communication, those innovations that are most successful can be implemented more broadly. This indicates that a system of decentralized urban planning also has the potential to test many innovations simultaneously in order to determine which has the best chance at solving problems within the regime. Ultimately, the landscape pressure resultant from a decentralized urban planning system depends on the strength of voluntary communication between municipalities about both the success of niche-innovations, and how they balance national sustainability, economic, and social equity goals.

6 Chasing Transitions

6.1 Brunnshög's Epistemology

The epistemologies summarized in Table 1 classify approaches that urban experiments may take when driving systemic change for sustainability. I will classify Brunnshög's approach to sustainable development using these epistemologies to further address the first research question: How do Brunnshög's proposed innovations intend to challenge dominant socio-technical systems? An in-depth look at the relationship between specific innovations and the regime is provided in section 5.2.2.

Brunnshög's development most closely aligns with the first epistemology: transforming urban mechanisms and political ecologies, whose primary drivers of change are political, economic, ecological, and technological. Brunnshög's primary stakeholders do include the local government (Lund Municipality, including the Department of Waste Management), as well as infrastructure and technology providers (contractors and Kraftringen respectively). The main socio-technical systems (STS) being challenged through experimentation in Brunnshög include energy, waste, and transport, as suggested by the epistemology. This epistemology also prioritizes a reduction of the city's carbon and ecological footprints alongside continued access to resources that support economic growth, protect local assets, and uphold present living standards, which is an inherently eco-modern statement, thus aligning well with the perspective of stakeholders in Brunnshög.

Furthermore, Brunnshög's development patterns do not align strongly with the second epistemology, configuring urban innovation systems for green economies, because consumption and production patterns are not the developers' main concern. Although, encouraging a circular or sharing economy may serve to reduce some consumption. The third epistemology, empowering urban grassroots niches and social innovation, de-emphasizes technical solutions in favor of social and cultural initiatives that are driven by civil society actors. While Brunnshög also has a focus on social and cultural aspects that are not completely encompassed by the first epistemology, government actors are those driving development in the area and technical solutions have a prominent role. Therefore, the first epistemology best encompasses the eco-modern approach to urban experimentation in Brunnshög.

6.2 Transition Pathway Determination

In this section, I identify Lund's transition path and how Brunnshög may contribute to its realization to answer the second research question: What potential does Brunnshög's development have to contribute to a sustainability transition in Lund?

Within Sweden, sustainability and sustainable development have been prevalent in policy and practice throughout the last two decades. Thus, the transition to a more sustainable society has also been

33

underway during this period of time. Therefore, Brunnshög's niche-innovations do not necessarily differ greatly from the current norms. Instead, it seems, the niche-innovations being adopted in Brunnshög have found a place to continue their maturation process. They are slowly being adopted into the regime to solve problems. Brunnshög is unique because all the innovations are being adopted simultaneously in the same space and, perhaps, that is the true experiment.

It is also clear that regime actors are driving this urban experiment. Changes within the niche are to the benefit of incumbent actors trying to change the course of development across many STS. Although sustainability is highly prioritized, it is unlikely that any action will be taken that negatively impacts economic growth, which will limit the potential of urban experiments to motivate quicker or extremely radical action for sustainability. Although the pace of action taken to mitigate global warming has increased in recent decades within Sweden, there is no indication that the economic system itself will change in ways that drastically reduce consumption and production patterns, or force lifestyle changes. Instead, the focus is on reducing the carbon and ecological footprints associated with such actions, so that the current living standard is upheld. Once again, sustainable development in this case can be squarely characterized as eco-modern.

This information indicates that Lund currently embodies the transformation transition path, in which a new regime eventually evolves out of the old one and regime actors remain constant. In the case of Brunnshög, regime actors are not resisting change, but encouraging it, albeit with their own economic agenda. Re-orientation towards sustainability has been ongoing for 20 years, and urban experiments like Brunnshög serve to test innovations and/or embed those that have proven to work elsewhere, more strongly within the regime. However, in the end, the regimes' most basic structures remain.

Although the current transition path is clearly oriented towards that of transformation, there is cause to believe that a shift to the reconfiguration pathway could take place. Similar to the path of transformation, reconfiguration also relies on the regime's adoption of niche-innovations. However, if enough innovations are adopted at a quicker pace, then new combinations between innovations may prompt structural changes within the regime. These new combinations are known as knock-on effects. Brunnshög's niche-innovations are influencing a single space and tackling challenges across multiple STS. This arrangement provides ample opportunity for knock-on effects to develop since STS are interconnected. Perhaps if these effects prove useful, they may also be adopted within the regime and motivate more substantial change.

6.3 Challenges and Limitations of the MLP

Applying the MLP to this case study was challenging. Within Geels' literature, the MLP is primarily applied to better understand the transition of a single regime (Geels, 2002, 2006). Additionally, examples are generally historic, and thus representative of complete transitions (Geels & Schot, 2010). In the instance when Geels et al. (2016) did examine ongoing transitions, the analytical time periods were provided, but not explicated and the analysis still centered around a single regime. Therefore, determining which time period should be considered for the ongoing transition in Sweden, as it relates to Brunnshög, was challenging. For example, should the norms created over the last 20 years be considered as the regime when compared to Brunnshög, or should norms existent before the current transition began characterize comparative regimes? Of course, if the former option is chosen, then the current regime formation is still informed by changes that took place at the start of the current transition period. In this study, the former was chosen, but perhaps the latter perspective could also be justified, which would produce different results. Additionally, this study considers many different innovations simultaneously, so the analysis must incorporate many different, but interconnected regimes, which increases complexity and decreases the depth with which individual STS could be analyzed during this project. Ultimately, my engagement with this theory has made clear the lack of guidance about defining a time period for the analysis of an ongoing transition or how the MLP may be effectively applied to understand a transition resultant from smaller transitions taking place across multiple regimes.

6.4 Looking Towards the Future

Ultimately, much of Brunnshög's development still remains a vision. Although the research facilities, ESS and MAX IV, will soon be complete, and the construction of Södra Brunnshög is well underway, the full development of this area is expected to take 40 years. Therefore, it is imperative that this case is followed closely if its true influence on Lund's transition to sustainability is to be realized. Additionally, Brunnshög is not the only urban experiment in Sweden, much less Skåne. It would be meaningful to better understand the combined effects of so many experiments under such a decentralized planning system. Are municipalities interpreting national policy differently or prioritizing different innovations? Are they duplicating work or repeating mistakes? How does this decentralized system affect the national transition path to sustainability? Much can still be gleaned from analyzing urban experiments individually and collectively within Sweden. Finally, the uptake speed of innovations within the regime and proliferation of knock-on effects will define whether or not Lund's transition pathway remains one of transformation or shifts to reconfiguration. Thus, the progress of niche-innovations specifically need to be followed closely in relation to Lund's dominant regimes and landscape pressure.

7 Conclusion

The conflict between urbanization and global warming necessitates sustainability transitions in urban areas. Thus, some cities focus on becoming loci for urban experimentation aimed at revealing sustainable system alternatives. Lund is such a city and the developing district of Brunnshög is its urban experiment. From a multi-level perspective, Brunnshög's development and niche-innovations help characterize Lund's transition pathway. Brunnshög's primary niche-innovations fall within four sociotechnical systems: transportation, energy and heating, waste management, and food production. These innovations compete with the transport regime and, to a lesser extent, the food production regime but are otherwise symbiotic. Disruptive landscape pressures, which derive from Sweden's eco-modern political ideology and growing global awareness of climate change, are being felt at the regime level. It remains to be seen, however, if the decentralized nature of urban planning in Sweden serves to reinforce the dominance of current regimes by preventing a nationally coordinated response to sustainable development, or if the decentralized system pressures regimes by encouraging broad experimentation leading to the adoption of exceptional innovations across municipalities. This outcome depends on the municipalities' willingness to communicate and coordinate efforts.

Brunnshög's development aligns most closely with an eco-modern epistemology for urban experimentation since prioritization is given to reducing the city's ecological and carbon footprints while maintaining economic growth and current living standards. The social component of Brunnshög's development plan, which focuses on providing common meeting places and experiences, is not completely encompassed by this epistemology. However, this social component also has an economic motive, as it exists in part to increase collaboration and promote creativity and innovation. Ultimately, this classification reveals that although regimes are changing, niche-innovations are not challenging their basic structure. This revelation, coupled with the fact that niche-innovations are largely symbiotic and incumbent regime actors are primary stakeholders, shows that Brunnshög contributes to the current transformation transition path evident within Lund. There is potential though for this transition path to shift to reconfiguration. Given that socio-technical systems within urban areas are interconnected, it is probable that niche-innovations from different regimes could combine and create knock-on effects capable of restructuring regimes. Brunnshög's development must be followed closely over the next few decades to determine which transition path it ultimately contributes to.

Future research should seek to understand the collective effects of urban experiments across the country and how Sweden's decentralized system affects its overarching sustainability transition. The multi-level perspective framework could also be refined to better facilitate the analysis of ongoing transitions, as well as the analysis of multiple niche-innovations across many interconnected regimes.

36

8 References

Apparicio, S., & Sauer, N. (2020, March 1). Which countries have not ratified the Paris climate agreement? *Climate Home News*.

https://www.climatechangenews.com/2020/03/01/countries-yet-ratify-paris-agreement/

Avfall Sverige. (2019). Swedish waste management 2018 (pp. 1–48).

https://www.avfallsverige.se/fileadmin/user_upload/Publikationer/SAH_2019_EN.pdf

- Boverket. (2015). Urban treasures. Results from projects supported by the Delegation for Sustainable Cities (pp. 1–64).
- Bulkeley, H., & Castán Broto, V. (2013). Government by experiment? Global cities and the governing of climate change. *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers*, *38*(3), 361–375. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-5661.2012.00535.x
- Clark, W. C., & Dickson, N. M. (2003). Sustainability science: The emerging research program. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 100(14), 8059–8061. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1231333100
- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2018). *Qualitative inquiry & research design: Choosing among five approaches* (Fourth edition). SAGE.

Cultivation plots and urban gardening. (2019, March 8). Lund Municipality.

https://www.lund.se/en/culture--leisure/sports-and-outdoors/excursions-out-andabout/cultivation-plots-and-allotments/

Developments and forecasts on continuing urbanisation. (2018, July 25). European Commission. https://ec.europa.eu/knowledge4policy/foresight/topic/continuing-

 $urbanisation/developments-and-forecasts-on-continuing-urbanisation_en$

Evans, J. (2016). Trials and tribulations: Problematizing the city through/as urban experimentation. *Geography Compass*, *10*(10), 429–443. https://doi.org/10.1111/gec3.12280

- Fischer, L.-B., & Newig, J. (2016). Importance of actors and agency in sustainability transitions: A systematic exploration of the literature. *Sustainability*, 8(5), 476. https://doi.org/10.3390/su8050476
- FridaysForFuture. (2019, July 27). *Greta Thunberg full speech at the National Assembly in Paris, July* 23 2019 [Video file]. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ESDpzwWrmGg&feature=youtu.be
- Fuenfschilling, L., Frantzeskaki, N., & Coenen, L. (2019). Urban experimentation & sustainability transitions. *European Planning Studies*, 27(2), 219–228. https://doi.org/10.1080/09654313.2018.1532977
- Geels, F. W. (2002). Technological transitions as evolutionary reconfiguration processes: A multi-level perspective and a case-study. *Research Policy*, *31*, 1257–1274.
- Geels, F. W. (2004). From sectoral systems of innovation to socio-technical systems: Insights about dynamics and change from sociology and institutional theory. *Research Policy*, 33(6–7), 897–920. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2004.01.015
- Geels, F. W. (2006). The hygienic transition from cesspools to sewer systems (1840–1930): The dynamics of regime transformation. *Research Policy*, *35*(7), 1069–1082.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2006.06.001
- Geels, F. W. (2010). Ontologies, socio-technical transitions (to sustainability), and the multi-level perspective. *Research Policy*, *39*(4), 495–510. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2010.01.022

Geels, F. W. (2011). The multi-level perspective on sustainability transitions: Responses to seven criticisms. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, 1(1), 24–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2011.02.002

Geels, F. W., Kern, F., Fuchs, G., Hinderer, N., Kungl, G., Mylan, J., Neukirch, M., & Wassermann, S.
(2016). The enactment of socio-technical transition pathways: A reformulated typology and a comparative multi-level analysis of the German and UK low-carbon electricity transitions
(1990–2014). *Research Policy*, 45(4), 896–913. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2016.01.015

- Geels, F. W., & Schot, J. (2007). Typology of sociotechnical transition pathways. *Research Policy*, *36*(3), 399–417. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2007.01.003
- Geels, F. W., & Schot, J. W. (2010). The dynamics of transitions: A socio-technical perspective. In J. Grin, J. Rotmans, J. W. Schot, F. W. Geels, & D. Loorbach (Eds.), *Transitions to sustainable development: New directions in the study of long term transformative change*. Routledge.
- Geels, F. W., Sovacool, B. K., Schwanen, T., & Sorrell, S. (2017a). Sociotechnical transitions for deep decarbonization. *Science*, *357*(6357), 1242–1244. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aao3760
- Geels, F. W., Sovacool, B. K., Schwanen, T., & Sorrell, S. (2017b). The socio-technical dynamics of lowcarbon transitions. *Joule*, 1(3), 463–479. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joule.2017.09.018
- Hallgren, J. (2015). *Farmland in municipal physical planning* [Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences]. https://stud.epsilon.slu.se/8471/1/hallgren_j_150909.pdf
- Haynes, S. (2019, May 16). How teen climate activist Greta Thunberg got everyone to listen. *Time*. https://time.com/collection-post/5584902/greta-thunberg-next-generation-leaders/
- Hilding-Rydevik, T., Håkansson, M., & Isaksson, K. (2011). The Swedish discourse on sustainable regional development: Consolidating the post-political condition. *International Planning Studies*, *16*(2), 169–187. https://doi.org/10.1080/13563475.2011.561062
- How Sweden is governed. (2020, February 12). Boverket: National Board of Housing, Building and Planning. https://www.boverket.se/en/start/building-in-sweden/swedish-market/laws-andregulations/sweden-governed/
- IPCC. (2014). Summary for policymakers. In O. Edenhofer, R. Pichs-Madruga, Y. Sokona, E. Farahani,
 S. Kadner, K. Seyboth, A. Adler, I. Baum, S. Brunner, P. Eickemeier, B. Kriemann, J. Savolainen,
 S. Schlömer, C. von Stechow, T. Zwickel, & J. C. Minx (Eds.), *Climate Change 2014: Mitigation* of *Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change* (pp. 1–30). Cambridge University Press. https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2018/02/ipcc_wg3_ar5_summary-forpolicymakers.pdf

- IPCC. (2018). Summary for policymakers. In V. Masson-Delmotte, P. Zhai, H.-O. Pörtner, D. Roberts, J. Skea, P. R. Shukla, A. Pirani, W. Moufouma-Okia, C. Péan, R. Pidcock, S. Connors, J. B. R. Matthews, Y. Chen, X. Zhou, M. I. Gomis, E. Lonnoy, T. Maycock, M. Tignor, & T. Waterfield (Eds.), *Global warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty (pp. 1–32). In Press.*
- IPCC Secretariat. (2018). *IPCC press release: Summary for policymakers of IPCC special report on global warming of 1.5°C approved by governments* (2018/24/PR; pp. 1–4). https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2018/11/pr_181008_P48_spm_en.pdf
- Jordbruksverket. (2018). *Swedish Food Production* (No. OVR462). https://www2.jordbruksverket.se/download/18.5c2fc416166df50915ca0f0c/1541574402204 /ovr462.pdf
- Kates, R. W., Clark, W. C., Corell, R., Hall, J. M., Jaeger, C. C., Lowe, I., McCarthy, J. J., Schellnhuber, H.
 J., Bolin, B., Dickson, N. M., Faucheux, S., Gallopin, G. C., Grübler, A., Huntley, B., Jäger, J.,
 Jodha, N. S., Kasperson, R. E., Mabogunje, A., Matson, P., ... Svedin, U. (2001). Sustainability
 science. *Science*, *292*, 641–642. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1059386
- Kraftringen. (2019, June 19). Lund Municipality. https://www.lund.se/kommun-politik/ekonomi/arsredovisning/kommunens-ekonomi-2018/kommunkoncernensekonomi/kraftringen/
- Legislation planning and building act (2010:900) planning and building ordinance (2011:338) (127/2016). (2018).
 - https://www.boverket.se/globalassets/publikationer/dokument/2018/legislation-edition-3.pdf

- Loorbach, D., Frantzeskaki, N., & Avelino, F. (2017). Sustainability transitions research: Transforming science and practice for societal change. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources*, *42*(1), 599–626. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-102014-021340
- Loorbach, D., & Shiroyama, H. (2016). The challenge of sustainable urban development and transforming cities. In D. Loorbach, J. M. Wittmayer, H. Shiroyama, J. Fujino, & S. Mizuguchi (Eds.), *Governance of Urban Sustainability Transitions* (pp. 3–12). Springer Japan. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-4-431-55426-4 1
- Lund Municipality. (2012a). Lund NE / Brunnshög: Vision och mål [Lund NE / Brunnshög: Vision and goals] (pp. 1–72). https://www.lund.se/globalassets/brunnshog/hamta-material/brunnshog_visioner_2012-09-30.pdf
- Lund Municipality. (2012b). *Trafikstrategi för Lund NE/Brunnshög: Färdplan för hållbar mobilitet* [*Traffic strategy for Lund NE/Brunnshög: Roadmap for sustainable mobility*] (pp. 1–24). https://www.lund.se/globalassets/brunnshog/hamta-material/rapporter/trafikstrategi--lundne_brunnshog_2012-11-26.pdf
- Lund Municipality. (2016a). Föreskrifter om avfallshantering för Lunds Kommun [Regulations on waste management for Lund Municipality] (pp. 1–19).
 - https://www.lund.se/globalassets/lund.se/foretagare/tillstand-regler-och-tillsyn/avfall/lagaroch-regler/foreskrifter-om-avfallshantering-2016-2020.pdf
- Lund Municipality. (2016b). *Avfallsplan: Lunds kommun 2016—2020 [Waste plan: Lund Municipality 2016—2020]* (pp. 1–12).

https://www.lund.se/globalassets/regelsamling/renhallning_och_vatten/avfallsplan-2016-2020-beslutat-av-kf-2016-06-15.pdf

Lund Municipality. (2016c). Brunnshög: Sammanfattning av visioner, strategier och mål [Brunnshög: Summary of visions, strategies, and goals] (pp. 1–48).

https://lund.se/globalassets/brunnshog/hamta-

material/sammanfattning_brunnshog_visioner_2016-09-09.pdf

Lund Municipality. (2017). *Tramway Lund C - ESS: city planning and tomorrow's Lund* (pp. 1–20). https://sparvaglund.se/imagevault/publishedmedia/kwjp9hgp77ju0wg35wli/stadsplanering_ sparvag_lund_c_ess_engelska.pdf

Lund Municipality. (2018). Hållbarhets-PM Brunnshög: Åtgärdsprogram för framtidens samhällsutmaningar [Sustainability Brunnshög: Action plan for future social challenges] (pp. 1–32). https://www.lund.se/globalassets/brunnshog/hamtamaterial/rapporter/hallbarhetspm2018.pdf

- Lund Municipality. (2019). Brunnshög: Sammanfattning av visioner, strategier och mål [Brunnshög: Summary of visions, strategies, and goals] (pp. 1–17).
- Lunds Renhållningsverk. (n.d.). *Hit the gas for food waste!* (pp. 1–4). Retrieved April 23, 2020, from https://www.lund.se/globalassets/lund.se/bygg_bo/avfall-och-atervinning/broschyrerlrv/engelska/varformatavfall2engw2.pdf
- Madureira, A. M. (2014). Physical planning in entrepreneurial urban governance—Experiences from the Bo01 and Brunnshög projects, Sweden. *European Planning Studies*, *22*(11), 2369–2388. https://doi.org/10.1080/09654313.2013.843650
- Markard, J., Raven, R., & Truffer, B. (2012). Sustainability transitions: An emerging field of research and its prospects. *Research Policy*, *41*(6), 955–967.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2012.02.013

- MAX IV and ESS. (2020, April 28). Lund University. https://www.lunduniversity.lu.se/research/max-ivand-ess
- Midttun, A., & Olsson, L. (2018). Eco-modernity Nordic style: The challenge of aligning ecological and socio-economic sustainability. In N. Witoszek & A. Midttun (Eds.), *Sustainable modernity: The Nordic model and beyond*. New York, NY : Routledge.
- Miljöbalk [Environmental Code], 1998:808 (1999). https://www.riksdagen.se/sv/dokumentlagar/dokument/svensk-forfattningssamling/miljobalk-1998808_sfs-1998-808

Ministry of the Environment and Energy. (2015). The goal is a fossil-free Sweden (pp. 1–2).

https://www.government.se/4add1a/contentassets/ef6483a702fd4d1a860e7ca7f4b6fe70/fa ktablad_fossil_free_sweden_en_webb.pdf

- Ministry of the Environment and Energy. (2018a). *The Swedish climate policy framework* (pp. 1–6). https://www.government.se/495f60/contentassets/883ae8e123bc4e42aa8d59296ebe0478/ the-swedish-climate-policy-framework.pdf
- Ministry of the Environment and Energy. (2018b). *Strategy for liveable cities: Short version* (pp. 1–8). https://www.government.se/49f4b6/contentassets/093aaf895dbd44119d5ee023138c0f94/s trategy-for-livable-cities---short-version
- Municipalities and regions. (n.d.). Sveriges Kommuner Och Regioner. Retrieved April 21, 2020, from https://skr.se/tjanster/englishpages/municipalitiesandregions.1088.html

Our commission in public transport. (2018, March 14). Region Skåne.

https://www.skane.se/en/politics-and-organisation/our-commission-in-public-transport/

- *Our responsibilities*. (2018, March 14). Region Skåne. https://www.skane.se/en/politics-andorganisation/about-region-skane/areas-of-activity/
- Parker, L. (2020, March 25). Greta wasn't the first to demand climate action. Meet more young activists. *National Geographic*.

https://www.nationalgeographic.com/magazine/2020/04/greta-thunberg-wasnt-the-first-todemand-climate-action-meet-more-young-activists-feature/

- Planning process. (2018, June 7). Boverket: National Board of Housing, Building and Planning. https://www.boverket.se/en/start/building-in-sweden/swedish-market/laws-andregulations/planning-process/
- Region Skåne. (n.d.). *Regional transport infrastructure for Skåne 2018-2029 short version* (pp. 1–20). https://utveckling.skane.se/siteassets/publikationer_dokument/rti-plan_kort_eng.pdf

Region Skåne. (2018). *Skånes kollektivtrafik 2017 [Scania's public transport 2017]*. https://www.skanetrafiken.se/globalassets/dokumentbank/om-oss/skanes-kollektivtrafik-2017.pdf

- Revi, A., Satterthwaite, D. E., Aragón-Durand, F., Corfee-Morlot, J., Kiunsi, R. B. R., Pelling, M.,
 Roberts, D. C., & Solecki, W. (2014). Urban Areas. In C. B. Field, V. R. Barros, D. J. Dokken, K. J.
 Mach, M. D. Mastrandrea, T. E. Bilir, M. Chatterjee, K. L. Ebi, Y. O. Estrada, R. C. Genova, B.
 Girma, E. S. Kissel, A. N. Levy, S. MacCracken, P. R. Mastrandrea, & L. L. White (Eds.), *Climate change 2014: Impacts, adaptation, and vulnerability. Part A: Global and sectoral aspects.*Contribution of working group II to the fifth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change (pp. 535–612). Cambridge University Press.
- Schmidt, D., Kallert, A., Blesl, M., Svendsen, S., Li, H., Nord, N., & Sipilä, K. (2017). Low temperature district heating for future energy systems. *Energy Procedia*, *116*, 26–38. https://doi.org/10..1016/j.egypro.2017.05.052
- Sengers, F., Wieczorek, A. J., & Raven, R. (2019). Experimenting for sustainability transitions: A systematic literature review. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 145, 153–164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2016.08.031
- Sköldberg, H., & Rydén, B. (2014). *The heating market in Sweden: An overall view* (pp. 1–52). http://www.varmemarknad.se/pdf/The_heating_market_in_Sweden_141030.pdf
- Spangenberg, J. H. (2011). Sustainability science: A review, an analysis and some empirical lessons. *Environmental Conservation*, *38*(3), 275–287. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0376892911000270
- Statistics Sweden. (2013, November 26). Sweden one of Europe's most heavily forested countries. Statistiska Centralbyrån. http://www.scb.se/en/finding-statistics/statistics-by-subjectarea/environment/land-use/land-use-in-sweden/pong/statistical-news/land-use-in-sweden-20102/
- Statistics Sweden. (2015a). Land use in Sweden, hectares by region, land use category and every fifth year. Statistiska Centralbyrån.

http://www.statistikdatabasen.scb.se/pxweb/en/ssd/START__MI__MI0803__MI0803A/Mark anvKn/table/tableViewLayout1/

Statistics Sweden. (2015b). Land with allotment gardens, hectares by region and every fifth year. Statistiska Centralbyrån.

http://www.statistikdatabasen.scb.se/pxweb/en/ssd/START__MI__MI0803__MI0803A/Kolo niomrade/table/tableViewLayout1/

Stjernborg, V., & Mattisson, O. (2016). The role of public transport in society—A case study of general policy documents in Sweden. *Sustainability*, *8*(11), 1120. https://doi.org/10.3390/su8111120

Swedish Energy Agency. (2019). Energy in Sweden 2019: An overview (ET 2019:3; pp. 1–14).

https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=2&ved=2ahUKEwjM8 _Ty_enoAhUB5aYKHfqIA1QQFjABegQIDBAD&url=https%3A%2F%2Fenergimyndigheten.aw2m.se%2FFolderContents.mvc%2FDownload%3FResourceId%3D133464&usg=AOvVaw1sQ Ocn7C183rU5Nz7Q8ipQ

Swedish Environmental Protection Agency. (2018). National inventory report Sweden 2018:

Greenhouse gas emission inventories 1990-2016 (pp. 1–560).

https://www.naturvardsverket.se/upload/miljoarbete-i-samhallet/internationellt-

miljoarbete/miljokonventioner/FN/national-inventory-report-2018.pdf

Svenska miljömål. Miljöpolitik för ett hållbart Sverige [Swedish environmental targets. Environmental policy for a sustainable Sweden], 1997/98:145 (1998). https://www.regeringen.se/rattsligadokument/proposition/1998/05/prop.-199798145-/

The Delegation for Sustainable Cities. (n.d.). *The delegation for sustainable cities: Conclusions from the government assignment September 2008—December 2012* (pp. 1–24). Retrieved March 15, 2020, from

https://www.boverket.se/contentassets/dce3f7e3d80d4bcaa06ad2071366beda/take-actionnow.pdf

- United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, & Population Division. (2019). *World urbanization prospects: 2018 highlights*.
- United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. (n.d.). *The Paris agreement*. UNFCCC. Retrieved April 22, 2020, from https://unfccc.int/process-and-meetings/the-parisagreement/the-paris-agreement
- Werner, S. (2017). District heating and cooling in Sweden. *Energy*, *126*, 419–429. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2017.03.052
- Wolfram, M., & Frantzeskaki, N. (2016). Cities and systemic change for sustainability: Prevailing epistemologies and an emerging research agenda. *Sustainability*, 8(2), 144.

https://doi.org/10.3390/su8020144

World Commission on Environment and Development. (1987). Our common future.

World Urbanization Prospects—Population Division—United Nations. (n.d.). Retrieved February 25,

2020, from https://population.un.org/wup/Country-Profiles/